The Algebraic Riccati Equation and Its Role in Indefinite Inner Product Spaces

19

André C.M. Ran

Contents

Introduction	452
Motivation	454
Linear Quadratic Optimal Control	454
Bounded Real Lemma.	455
H^{∞} -Control	456
Stochastic Realization	457
Kalman Filter	458
Spectral Factorization	459
Bezout Equation	460
Invariant Lagrangian Subspaces	461
Existence	461
Stability	462
Invariant Maximal Semidefinite Subspaces	462
The Algebraic Riccati Equation: A Special Case	463
Inertia of Solutions	465
The Discrete Algebraic Riccati Equation	466
Key Literature	467
Cross-References.	467
References	468

Abstract

In this essay algebraic Riccati equations will be discussed. It turns out that Hermitian solutions of algebraic Riccati equations which originate from systems and control theory may be studied in terms of invariant Lagrangian subspaces of matrices which are selfadjoint in an indefinite inner product. The essay

A.C.M. Ran (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, FEW, VU University Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Unit for BMI, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa e-mail: a.c.m.ran@vu.nl

will describe briefly certain problems in systems and control theory where the algebraic Riccati equation plays a role. The focus in the main part of the essay will be on those aspects of the theory of matrices in indefinite inner product spaces that were motivated and largely influenced by the connection with the study of Hermitian solutions of algebraic Riccati equations. This includes the description of uniqueness and stability of invariant Lagrangian subspaces and of invariant maximal semidefinite subspaces of matrices that are selfadjoint in the indefinite inner product, which leads to the concept of the sign condition. Also, it is described how the inertia of solutions of a special type of algebraic Riccati equation may be described completely in terms of the invariant Lagrangian subspaces connected with the solutions.

Introduction

In several areas of systems and control theory, such as linear quadractic optimal control, the bounded real-lemma, *H*-infinity control, or stochastic realization theory, quadratic matrix equations play a role. Such equations are of the form

$$XDX - BX + XA - C = 0, (19.1)$$

where A, B, C, and D are given matrices and X is the solution. The problem of finding X can often be solved in the following way: Introduce

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{bmatrix} A & D \\ C & B \end{bmatrix}$$
(19.2)

and consider the subspace $\mathcal{M} = \text{Im} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ X \end{bmatrix}$. Then *X* is a solution of (19.1) if and only if \mathcal{M} is \mathcal{H} -invariant and in addition

$$\mathcal{M} \cap \operatorname{Im} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ I \end{bmatrix} = \{0\}.$$
(19.3)

Furthermore, if X is a solution to (19.1), then

$$\sigma(A + DX) = \sigma(\mathcal{H}|_{\mathcal{M}}). \tag{19.4}$$

Thus solutions of the algebraic Riccati equation are in one-to-one correspondence with \mathcal{H} -invariant subspaces for which the extra condition (19.3) holds, and moreover, the spectrum of the so-called closed loop feedback matrix A + DX is given by (19.4).

In the control problems mentioned above, the equation usually has some symmetry. In fact, mostly D and C are Hermitian matrices, and $B = -A^*$. In

most cases also, one is looking for the unique solutions for which A + DX is stable in the sense that all its eigenvalues are in the open left half plane. It is easy to see that such a matrix has to be Hermitian as well. Such a solution is called the *stabilizing solution* of the algebraic Riccati equation.

Observe, in case $D = D^*$, $C = C^*$, and $B = -A^*$, then the matrix \mathcal{H} is *J*-Hamiltonian, that is, with

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I \\ -I & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

we have

$$J\mathcal{H} = -\mathcal{H}^*J.$$

In other words, the matrix $i\mathcal{H}$ is selfadjoint in the indefinite iH-inner product. Moreover, for Hermitian solutions X of the algebraic Riccati equation, the subspace \mathcal{M} satisfies $J\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}^{\perp}$. A subspace with this property will be called *J*-*Lagrangian*.

Thus, when considering Hermitian solutions of symmetric algebraic Riccati equations, one is interested in \mathcal{H} -invariant *J*-Lagrangian subspaces with the extra condition (19.3). This connection between solutions of the Riccati equation and invariant Lagrangian subspaces goes back to [4, 20, 21].

The condition that the spectrum of A + DX lies in the open left half plane then implies (using a dimension argument) that \mathcal{H} does not have any spectrum on the imaginary axis, and [using (19.4)] that \mathcal{M} is the spectral subspace of \mathcal{H} corresponding to the open left half plane. For some applications, notably in *H*infinity control, it is of interest to study solutions for which the spectral condition is weakened to $\sigma(A + DX)$ lying in the closed left half plane. This motivates the study of \mathcal{H} -invariant *J*-Lagrangian subspaces for matrices that are *J*-Hamiltonian. In effect, since the results on canonical forms for selfadjoint matrices in indefinite inner products are readily available, it is easier to consider $i\mathcal{H}$ -invariant subspaces which are iJ-Lagrangian.

An excellent discussion of the algebraic Riccati equation, based on an approach using indefinite inner product spaces, is given in the book [13]. Applications to problems in factorization of rational matrix functions, and connections to engineering problems like the theory of linear quadratic optimal control, H-infinity control, the bounded real lemma, and the positive real lemma may be found also in [1]. Most of these connections will be discussed briefly in the next section.

Algebraic Riccati equations may be solved in several ways. Classically, solutions were based on iterative techniques. With this in mind, the problem of finding invariant Lagrangian subspaces may be tackled by solving a corresponding algebraic Riccati equation. However, the current way of solving algebraic Riccati equations works the other way around: the existence of invariant Lagrangian subspaces is used, and computer programs like Matlab use this to find the desired solution of the algebraic Riccati equation.

There is a rich literature concerning the infinite dimensional case. The reader is referred to [5] for a good starting point. Further developments can be found in, e.g., [19,22,23]. The viewpoint of using existence of invariant Lagrangian subspaces, and the theory of operators in spaces with an indefinite inner product, to study particular solutions of the algebraic Riccati equation can be found in [15], as well as in [3]. The focus in this essay will be on the finite dimensional case.

Motivation

In this section several ways in which the algebraic Riccati equation appears in problems in systems and control theory will be discussed.

Linear Quadratic Optimal Control

Consider a controllable linear system in continuous time, given by

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t), \qquad t \ge 0,$$

$$x(0) = x_0.$$

Together with the system a cost function is given by

$$J(u, x_0) = \int_0^\infty x(t)^* Rx(t) + u(t)^* Qu(t) dt.$$

The goal is to minimize $J(u, x_0)$ over all stabilizing input trajectories u(t), where x(t) is the corresponding trajectory of the system. The matrices Q and R satisfy the following conditions: $Q \ge 0$, R > 0.

This minimization problem can be solved in the following way: find the stabilizing solution X of the algebraic Riccati equation

$$XBR^{-1}B^{*}X - XA - A^{*}X - Q = 0$$

and then set $u(t) = -R^{-1}B^*x(t)$.

The analogue in discrete time is also being considered. The system then is given by

$$x(t + 1) = Ax(t) + Bu(t),$$
 $t = 0, 1, 2, \cdots,$
 $x(0) = x_0,$

and the cost function is given by

$$J(u, x_0) = \sum_{0}^{\infty} x(t)^* R x(t) + u(t)^* Q u(t).$$

Again the goal is to minimize the cost function over all stabilizing input sequences u(t). Under the same conditions on the system and the cost function the solution is now as follows: find the stabilizing solution of the so-called *discrete algebraic Riccati equation*

$$X = Q + A^* X A - A^* X B (R + B^* X B)^{-1} B^* X A,$$

then the minimizing input sequence is given by $u(t) = -(R + B^*XB)^{-1}B^*XA$.

How the discrete algebraic Riccati equation relates to an invariant subspace problem for a structured matrix in an indefinite inner product space will be discussed in the last section.

Dropping the condition that the input functions (for the continuous time case) or the input sequences (for the discrete time case) over which one minimizes the cost function are stabilizing, and just assuming that R is invertible, one arrives at the so-called linear quadratic problems with indefinite cost. It turns out that once again, certain solutions of the same algebraic Riccati equations play a role, but obviously, not the stabilizing ones. For details on this, see [25, 27].

Bounded Real Lemma

The bounded real lemma provides a characterization of contractiveness of a rational matrix valued function. As a first result, let $W(\lambda) = D + C(\lambda I_n - A)^{-1}B$ be a minimal realization of a rational $p \times m$ matrix function, and assume that D is a strict contraction. Then the following three statements are equivalent:

- 1. $W(\lambda)$ has contractive values for λ on the imaginary axis,
- 2. there exists a Hermitian solution P of the algebraic Riccati equation

$$AP + PA^* + BB^* + (PC^* + BD^*)(I - DD^*)^{-1}(CP + DB^*) = 0.$$

3. there exists a Hermitian solution Q of the algebraic Riccati equation

$$A^{*}Q + QA^{*} - C^{*}C - (QB - C^{*}D)(I - D^{*}D)^{-1}(B^{*}Q - D^{*}C) = 0.$$

The bounded real lemma characterizes when a rational matrix valued function has contractive values in the closed right half plane. To be precise, with $W(\lambda)$ as in the previous paragraph, assume that $W(\lambda)$ is contractive for λ on the imaginary axis. Then $W(\lambda)$ has contractive values for all λ in the closed right half plane if and only if A has all its eigenvalues in the open left half plane, which in turn is equivalent to the existence of a positive definite solution of

$$AP + PA^* + BB^* + (PC^* + BD^*)(I - DD^*)^{-1}(CP + DB^*) = 0$$

H^{∞} -Control

Consider the following problem: given is a system with two inputs (w and u) and two outputs (y and z):

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1w(t) + B_2u(t),$$

$$z(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t),$$

$$y(t) = x(t).$$

The input *u* as usual is the one that can be controlled, *w* is interpreted as disturbances. Also, *y* is the measured output, *z* is the output to be controlled. This is a special case of an H^{∞} -control problem, the so-called full information case. The objective is to make the influence of the disturbance *w* on the output to be controlled *z* small in an appropriate sense, to be made precise below.

Consider the state feedback u(t) = Kx(t), where K is a fixed matrix. Then the closed loop system becomes

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A + B_2 K) x(t) + B_1 w(t),$$

 $z(t) = (C + DK) x(t).$

Denote by $G_K(s)$ the transfer function from w to z, that is, $G_K(s) = (C + DK)(sI - (A + B_2K))^{-1}B_1$. Then the objective is to find K such that the following two conditions hold:

1. for some pre-specified tolerance level γ

$$\|G_K\|_{\infty} := \max_{s \in i\mathbb{R}} \|G_K(s)\| < \gamma$$

2. *K* is a stabilizing feedback, that is, $A + B_2 K$ has all its eigenvalues in the open left half plane.

Under the assumptions that the pair (C, A) is observable, the pairs (A, B_1) and (A, B_2) are stabilizable, $D^T C = 0$ and $D^T D = I$, there exists a matrix K such that $A + B_2 K$ is stable and $||G_K||_{\infty} < \gamma$ if and only if there exists a positive definite matrix X_{∞} for which the following two conditions are met: X_{∞} satisfies the algebraic Riccati equation

$$X\left(\frac{1}{\gamma^2}B_1B_1^T - B_2B_2^T\right)X + XA + A^TX + C^TC = 0,$$

and $A + (\frac{1}{\gamma^2} B_1 B_1^T - B_2 B_2^T) X_{\infty}$ is stable. In that case one such state feedback is given by $K = -B_2^T X_{\infty}$.

It may be observed that if $\gamma \to \infty$ then X_{∞} , considered as a function of γ will go to the solution of the LQ-optimal control problem.

Stochastic Realization

Consider a vector valued zero-mean stationary stochastic process $y(t), t \in \mathbb{Z}$. Recall that this means that $\mathbb{E}(y(t)y(t-k)^T)$ only depends on k. The vectors y(t) are in \mathbb{R}^p . The $p \times p$ matrices $R(k) = \mathbb{E}(y(t)y(t-k)^T)$ are called the autocovariances of the process.

A state space representation for the process is a representation given by

$$\begin{aligned} x(t+1) &= Ax(t) + \varepsilon_1(t), \qquad t \in \mathbb{Z} \\ y(t) &= Cx(t) + \varepsilon_2(t), \end{aligned}$$

where A is a stable matrix and $\binom{\varepsilon_1(t)}{\varepsilon_2(t)}$ is a joint white noise process with covariance matrix

$$\Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{11} & \Sigma_{12} \\ \Sigma_{12}^T & \Sigma_{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Standing assumption is that Σ_{22} is invertible.

The (weak) stochastic realization problem is to construct the matrices A, C, and Σ from the autocovariances R(k) of the process. Obviously, it is of interest to have a minimal state space representation, which means that the number of state variables x(t) and the number of noise variables $\begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1(t) \\ \varepsilon_2(t) \end{pmatrix}$ are as small as possible.

A first step in the minimal realization is to construct matrices (A, C, M) such that $R(k) = CA^{k-1}M$ such that the state space dimension is as small as possible. This can be done by a routine realization procedure. The second step is then that Σ may be produced from these matrices and the state covariance matrix $\Pi = \mathbb{E}(x(t)x(t)^T)$ is as follows:

$$\Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{11} \ \Sigma_{12} \\ \Sigma_{12}^T \ \Sigma_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Pi - A \Pi A^T & M - A \Pi C^T \\ M^T - C \Pi A \ R(0) - C \Pi C^T \end{pmatrix}.$$

The number of noise terms is minimized by making the rank of Σ as small as possible. Since Σ_{22} needs to be invertible, this can be achieved by taking Π such

that rank $\Sigma = p$. This, in turn means one makes $Z = \Sigma_{11} - \Sigma_{12} \Sigma_{22}^{-1} \Sigma_{12}^{T} = 0$. That is, Π is chosen so that it is positive definite (after all, Π is the state covariance matrix), $R(0) - C \Pi C^{T}$ is invertible, and Π satisfies the algebraic Riccati equation

$$\Pi = A\Pi A^{T} + (M - A\Pi C^{T})(R(0) - C\Pi C^{T})^{-1}(M^{T} - C\Pi A^{T}).$$

For more details, see, e.g., [11, Chapter 6].

Kalman Filter

Given a zero-mean stationary stochastic process y(t), one is interested in the *one-step ahead prediction*, given by the conditional expectation of y(t) based on all earlier values of the process. To be precise

$$\hat{y}(t) = \mathbb{E}(y(t) \mid y(s), s \le t - 1).$$

The Kalman filter solves this problem, starting from a realization of the process y:

$$x(t+1) = Ax(t) + F\varepsilon(t), \qquad t = 0, 1, 2 \cdots$$
$$y(t) = Cx(t) + G\varepsilon(t),$$

where A is a stable matrix, G has full row rank, and the process ε is white noise with zero mean and unit covariance matrix. It is assumed that $x(0) \sim N(0, P(0))$ and that it is independent of $\varepsilon(t)$ for all t.

Defining $\hat{x}(t) = \mathbb{E}(x(t) \mid y(s), s \le t - 1)$, it is seen that

$$\hat{y}(t) = C\hat{x}(t).$$

Introduce $\omega(t)$ the observation error, $\omega(t) = y(t) - \hat{y}(t)$, and denote by P(t) the state error covariance matrix, $P(t) = \mathbb{E}(x(t) - \hat{x}(t))(x(t) - \hat{x}(t))^T$.

Then the Kalman filter is given as follows:

$$\hat{x}(t+1) = A\hat{x}(t) + K(t)\omega(t),$$
$$\hat{y}(t) = C\hat{x}(t),$$
$$\hat{x}(0) = 0,$$

where

$$K(t) = (FGT + AP(t)CT)(GGT + CP(t)CT)^{-1},$$

and P(t) is given by the recursion

$$P(t+1) = AP(t)A^{T} + FF^{T} - (FG^{T} + AP(t)C^{T})(GG^{T} + CP(t)C^{T})^{-1}$$
$$(GF^{T} + CP(t)A^{T})$$

started with the covariance matrix P(0) of x(0).

The recursion of P(t) can be shown to converge to a steady state under certain conditions on the coefficients. Under suitable conditions, the limit of P(t) is the largest solution of the algebraic Riccati equation

$$P = APA^{T} + FF^{T} - (FG^{T} + APC^{T})(GG^{T} + CPC^{T})^{-1}(GF^{T} + CPA^{T}).$$

Replacing P(t) by this solution P in the formula for K(t) leads to the so-called steady-state Kalman filter. For more details, see, e.g., [10, 11, 13].

Spectral Factorization

Let $W(\lambda)$ be a rational $m \times m$ matrix function which has selfadjoint values on the imaginary axis, with the exception of possible poles. If $W(\lambda) = D + C(\lambda I_n - A)^{-1}B$ is a minimal realization, then there exists a unique invertible skew-Hermitian matrix H (i.e., $H = -H^*$) such that $HA = -A^*H$, and $HB = C^*$. Note that iH is Hermitian, and that iA is iH-selfadjoint. Assuming that D is invertible, also $A^{\times} = A - BD^{-1}C$ satisfies $HA^{\times} = -(A^{\times})^*H$. The matrix A^{\times} is of importance because of the fact that

$$W(\lambda)^{-1} = D^{-1} - D^{-1}C(\lambda I_n - A^{\times})^{-1}BD^{-1}.$$

Consider a special case, where $W(\lambda)$ is positive definite for λ on the imaginary axis, again with the exception of possible poles. In that case it is of interest to construct the so-called spectral factors, that is, one is interested in finding a rational $m \times m$ matrix function $L(\lambda)$ such that L has all its poles and zeros in the open left half plane and

$$W(\lambda) = L(-\overline{\lambda})^* L(\lambda).$$

An obvious necessary condition is that W itself does not have poles and zeros on the imaginary line. It turns out that this necessary condition is also sufficient. Usually, it is assumed that W is given in a different form. As a sample of the results available, consider the case where

$$W(\lambda) = D + C(\lambda I_n - A)^{-1} - B^*(\lambda I_n + A^*)^{-1}C^*,$$

with a stable matrix A, and a positive definite D. The corresponding matrix H is then given by

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Assume in addition that W does not have zeros on the imaginary axis. Put $A^{\times} = A - BD^{-1}C$. Then the Riccati equation

$$PBD^{-1}B^*P - PA^{\times} - (A^{\times})^*P + C^*D^{-1}C = 0$$

has a unique solution P for which $\sigma(A^{\times} - BD^{-1}B^*P)$ is contained in the open left half plane, and a spectral factorization is given by $W(\lambda) = L(-\overline{\lambda})^*L(\lambda)$, where

$$L(\lambda) = D^{1/2} + D^{-1/2}(C + B^*P)(\lambda I_n - A)^{-1}B.$$

(See Theorem 13.2 in [1].)

Many related factorization problems also involve algebraic Riccati equations. To mention just a few: J-spectral factorization (Chapter 14 in [1]), inner–outer factorizations (see, e.g, Theorem 17.26 in [1]), and unitary completions of strictly contractive matrix functions (see Theorem 17.29 in [1]).

Bezout Equation

A classical problem in systems theory is the following: given is an $m \times p$ rational matrix function $G(\lambda)$ which is analytic in the open right half plane, and for which the value $G(\infty) = D$ exists. It is assumed that p > m, so that G has more columns than rows. The goal is to find a $p \times m$ rational matrix function $X(\lambda)$, which is also analytic in the open right half plane, such that

$$G(\lambda)X(\lambda) = I_m, \quad \text{Re } \lambda \ge 0.$$

There is an extensive literature on this so-called Bezout equation and the related corona equation, see, e.g., [28] and the literature mentioned in [6]. Here, the solution obtained in [6] will be presented.

Assume that $G(\lambda) = D + C(\lambda I_n - A)^{-1}B$ where A has all its eigenvalues in the open left half plane. Clearly, a necessary condition for the existence of a solution $X(\lambda)$ is that D has a right inverse. In particular, it is necessary that DD^* is invertible. Let P be the unique solution of the Lyapunov equation

$$AP + PA^* = -BB^*.$$

Put $\Gamma = BD^* + PC^*$, and consider the algebraic Riccati equation

$$A^*Q + QA + (C - \Gamma^*Q)^*(DD^*)^{-1}(C - \Gamma^*Q) = 0.$$

A solution Q of this equation is called the stabilizing solution if

$$A_0 = A - \Gamma (DD^*)^{-1} (C - \Gamma^* Q)$$

has all its eigenvalues in the open left half plane.

In [6] the following result is proved: there is a rational $p \times m$ matrix function X which is analytic in the open right half plane and which satisfies the Bezout equation $G(\lambda)X(\lambda) = I_m$ if and only if there exists a stabilizing solution Q of the algebraic Riccati equation, and in addition, $I_n - PQ$ is invertible. In that case, one solution is given by

$$X(\lambda) = (I_p - C_1(\lambda I_n - A_0)^{-1}(I_n - PQ)^{-1}B) D^*(DD^*)^{-1},$$

where $C_1 = D^* (DD^*)^{-1} (C - \Gamma^* Q) + B^* Q$.

Moreover, a complete description of all solutions is provided as well in [6]. The discrete time analogues were discussed in [7, 8].

Invariant Lagrangian Subspaces

Existence

For the reader's convenience the canonical form for pairs of matrices (A, H), where $H = H^*$ is invertible and $HA = A^*H$, is recalled here. As a starting point, consider the following two examples.

Example 1. $A = J_n(\lambda)$ is the $n \times n$ Jordan block with real eigenvalue λ , and $H = \varepsilon \Sigma_n$, where $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ and Σ_n is the $n \times n$ sip matrix (i.e., the matrix with ones on the second main diagonal and zeros elsewhere).

Example 2. $A = J_n(\lambda) \oplus J_n(\overline{\lambda})$ and $H = \Sigma_{2n}$.

The result on the canonical form states that if A is H-selfadjoint, then there is an invertible matrix S such that the pair $(S^{-1}AS, S^*HS)$ is a block diagonal sum of blocks of the types described in the two examples above (see [9] for this result and a description of its history).

The signs in the canonical form connected to Jordan blocks of A with real eigenvalues are defined as the *sign characteristic* of the pair (A, H). Using this notion, the following theorem describes the existence of A-invariant H-Lagrangian subspaces [24, Theorem 5.1].

Theorem 1. Let A be H-selfadjoint. Then there exists an A-invariant H-Lagrangian subspace if and only if for each real eigenvalue λ of A the number of Jordan blocks of odd size with eigenvalue λ is even, and exactly half of those have a sign +1 attached to them in the sign characteristic of the pair (A, H).

Stability

It is also of interest to study stability of A-invariant H-Lagrangian subspaces under small perturbations of the matrices A and H. To discuss this, a metric on the space of subspaces is needed. The gap between two subspaces \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}' is defined by

$$gap(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}') = \|P_{\mathcal{M}} - P_{\mathcal{M}'}\|,$$

where $P_{\mathcal{M}}$ is the orthogonal projection on \mathcal{M} , and likewise for $P_{\mathcal{M}'}$.

An A-invariant maximal H-Lagrangian subspace \mathcal{M} is called *stable* if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a $\delta > 0$ such that for every pair (A', H') with A' being H'-selfadjoint, and with

$$||A - A'|| + ||H - H'|| < \varepsilon$$

there is an A'-invariant H'-Lagrangian subspace \mathcal{M}' such that

$$\operatorname{gap}(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{M}') < \delta.$$

A slightly different concept, with the a-priori additional condition on the pair (A', H') that there exists an A'-invariant H'-Lagrangian subspace, is called *conditional stability*. The following theorem can be found in, e.g., [24]. The notation $\mathcal{R}(A, \lambda)$ denotes the spectral subspace of A corresponding to the eigenvalue λ .

- **Theorem 2.** (i) Let A be H-selfadjoint. There exists a stable A-invariant H-Lagrangian subspace if and only if A has no real eigenvalues. In that case, an A-invariant H-Lagrangian subspace \mathcal{M} is stable if and only if for every eigenvalue λ of A with algebraic multiplicity greater than one, either $\mathcal{R}(A, \lambda) \subset \mathcal{M}$ or $\mathcal{R}(A, \lambda) \cap \mathcal{M} = \{0\}$.
- (ii) There exists a conditionally stable A-invariant H-Lagrangian subspace if and only if for every real eigenvalue λ₀ of A the partial multiplicities of A corresponding to λ₀ are all even and the signs in the sign characteristic of the pair (A, H) corresponding to these partial multiplicities are the same (but may differ from eigenvalue to eigenvalue). In that case, an A-invariant H-Lagrangian subspace M is conditionally stable if and only if for every eigenvalue λ of A with algebraic multiplicity greater than one, either R(A, λ) ⊂ M or R(A, λ) ∩ M = {0}.

Invariant Maximal Semidefinite Subspaces

For a pair (A, H), where $H = H^*$ is invertible, and A is H-selfadjoint, there always exist an A-invariant maximal H-nonnegative subspace \mathcal{M}_+ and an A-invariant maximal H-nonpositive subspace \mathcal{M}_- . Typically, there are many such

subspaces. An invariant maximal nonnegative, respectively nonpositive, subspace \mathcal{M} is called *stable* if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a $\delta > 0$ such that for every pair (A', H') with A' being H'-selfadjoint and with

$$||A - A'|| + ||H - H'|| < \delta,$$

there is an A'-invariant maximal H'-nonnegative, respectively nonpositive, subspace \mathcal{M}' such that

$$\operatorname{gap}(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{M}')<\varepsilon.$$

To state the result on stability of invariant maximal semidefinite subspaces, first the *sign condition* is introduced. The pair (A, H) is said to satisfy the sign condition if for every real eigenvalue λ of A the signs in the sign characteristic of (A, H)corresponding to Jordan blocks of odd size with eigenvalue λ are all the same, and likewise, the signs corresponding to Jordan blocks of even size with eigenvalue λ are all the same.

In [24] the following theorem is proved.

Theorem 3. Let A be H-selfadjoint. Then the following are equivalent:

- 1. there exists a unique A-invariant maximal H-nonnegative (resp. nonpositive) subspace \mathcal{M} such that $\sigma(A|_{\mathcal{M}})$ is contained in the closed upper half plane,
- 2. there exists a unique A-invariant maximal H-nonnegative (resp. nonpositive) subspace \mathcal{M} such that $\sigma(A|_{\mathcal{M}})$ is contained in the closed lower half plane,
- 3. there exists a stable A-invariant maximal H-nonnegative subspace,
- 4. the pair (A, H) satisfies the sign condition.

In that case, the unique A-invariant maximal H-nonnegative (resp. nonpositive) subspaces for which $\sigma(A|_{\mathcal{M}})$ is contained in the closed upper half plane, are stable, and likewise the unique A-invariant maximal H-nonnegative (resp. nonpositive) subspaces for which $\sigma(A|_{\mathcal{M}})$ is contained in the closed lower half plane are stable.

In addition, there is a complete description of all stable invariant maximal semidefinite subspaces.

The Algebraic Riccati Equation: A Special Case

A special case is the algebraic Riccati equation with a positive semidefinite coefficient in the quadratic term, that is:

$$XBR^{-1}B^*X - XA - A^*X - Q = 0, (19.5)$$

where R is positive definite. In particular, in linear quadratic optimal control this special case plays a role; in that case, also Q is positive semidefinite. Under certain additional conditions more can be said on the matrix

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{bmatrix} A & -BR^{-1}B^* \\ Q & -A^* \end{bmatrix}$$

(note that this is in fact the negative of the matrix \mathcal{H} in the introduction; it is chosen here to use the notation and conventions of the literature in control theory). Observe that $i\mathcal{H}$ is *H*-selfadjoint, where H = iJ. To state the results some notions have to be introduced.

The pair of matrices (A, B), where A is an $n \times n$ matrix and B is an $n \times m$ matrix, is said to be *controllable* if

$$\operatorname{rank} \left[B \ AB \ \cdots \ A^{n-1}B \right] = n.$$

The pair of matrices is said to be *stabilizable* if there exists an $m \times n$ matrix F such that A + BF has all its eigenvalues in the open left half plane. It can be shown that a controllable pair is stabilizable (this is known as the pole placement theorem in control theory).

The pair of matrices (C, A), where C is $p \times n$ and A is $n \times n$, is called *observable* if $\bigcap_{j=0}^{n-1} \text{Ker } CA^j = 0$. The pair of matrices is called *detectable* if there exists an $n \times p$ matrix R such that A - RC has all its eigenvalues in the open left half plane.

The following result is classical in linear quadratic optimal control.

Proposition 1. Assume that R is positive definite, Q is positive semidefinite, (A, B) is stabilizable and (Q, A) is detectable. Then the matrix H has no pure imaginary eigenvalues, and the Lagrangian invariant subspace corresponding to the eigenvalues in the open left half plane is a graph subspace in the sense that (19.3) is satisfied. Consequently, (19.5) has a stabilizing Hermitian solution.

Combining the above proposition with Theorem 2 it is seen that the stabilizing Hermitian solution is stable under small perturbations of A, B, R, and Q.

Dropping the condition that Q is positive semidefinite, but strengthening the condition on the pair (A, B) still allows to deduce a very interesting result, due to [14].

Theorem 4. Assume that R is positive definite, and that (A, B) is controllable. Then any invariant Lagrangian subspace \mathcal{M} is a graph subspace of the form $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{Im} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ X \end{bmatrix}$ for some Hermitian matrix X which is a solution of (19.5). In addition, the matrix i \mathcal{H} has only even partial multiplicities corresponding to its real eigenvalues, and the signs in the sign characteristic are all one. Thus, under these conditions, there is a one-to-one relation between invariant Lagrangian subspaces and Hermitian solutions of (19.5). In addition, there is a one-to-one relation between invariant Lagrangian subspaces and \mathcal{H} -invariant subspaces \mathcal{N} such that $\sigma(\mathcal{H}|\mathcal{N}) \subset \mathbb{C}_r$, where \mathbb{C}_r denotes the open right half plane. Indeed, it can be shown that any \mathcal{H} -invariant iJ-Lagrangian subspace \mathcal{M} is of the form

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{N} + \mathcal{N}_0 + ((J\mathcal{N})^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{H}, \mathbb{C}_l))$$

Here \mathbb{C}_l denotes the open left half plane, and $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{H}, \mathbb{C}_l)$ the spectral subspace of \mathcal{H} corresponding to the open left half plane. Further, \mathcal{N}_0 is the (unique) \mathcal{H} -invariant subspace spanned by the first halfs of Jordan chains corresponding to the pureimaginary eigenvalues of \mathcal{H} . See [13, 14, 26]. The description given here of the set of invariant Lagrangian subspaces is reminiscent of the description of Hermitian solutions to the algebraic Riccati equation given in [29].

Combining Theorems 4 and 2 we see that in case *R* is positive definite and (A, B) is controllable the solutions *X* for which $A - BR^{-1}B^*X$ has all its eigenvalues in the closed left half plane are conditionally stable.

Inertia of Solutions

Returning to the case where Q is positive semidefinite, write $Q = C^*C$, and assume (without loss of generality) that R = I. Thus, consider the Riccati equation:

$$XBB^*X - XA - A^*X - C^*C = 0. (19.6)$$

Consider also a second indefinite inner product, namely the one given by

$$J_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I \\ I & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that $i\mathcal{H}$ is not only iJ-selfadjoint, but also has the property that it is $-J_1$ -dissipative. Indeed,

$$\frac{1}{2}(J_1\mathcal{H} + \mathcal{H}^*J_1) = \begin{bmatrix} -C^*C & 0\\ 0 & -BB^* \end{bmatrix}$$

If X is an Hermitian solution of (19.6), then the subspace $\mathcal{M} = \text{Im} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ X \end{bmatrix}$ has the following property:

$$\left\langle J_1 \begin{bmatrix} I \\ X \end{bmatrix} x, \begin{bmatrix} I \\ X \end{bmatrix} x \right\rangle = \langle Xx, x \rangle.$$

Thus, for example, the Hermitian solution X is nonnegative definite if and only if the subspace \mathcal{M} is J_1 -nonnegative.

To describe how the inertia of the solution X is related to the geometry of the subspace \mathcal{M} , the following notations and definitions are needed. First, let \mathcal{V} be the maximal A-invariant subspace in Ker C. (Note, if the pair (C, A) is observable, then $\mathcal{V} = \{0\}$.) Let $\mathcal{R}_l = \mathcal{R}(A, \mathbb{C}_l)$ be the spectral subspace of A corresponding to the open left half plane, and likewise \mathcal{R}_r be the spectral subspace of A corresponding to the open right half plane. Denote by \mathcal{V}_r , respectively, \mathcal{V}_l , the intersections $\mathcal{V} \cap \mathcal{R}_r$ and $\mathcal{V} \cap \mathcal{R}_l$. Introduce also the projection $P : \mathbb{C}^{2n} \to \mathbb{C}^n$, given by $P = [I \ 0]$.

As usual, denote by $\pi(X)$, respectively $\nu(X)$, the number of positive, respectively, negative, eigenvalues of the Hermitian matrix X, and by $\delta(X)$ the dimension of Ker X.

With these notations the following result holds (see [16], compare also [30]).

Theorem 5. Assume that (A, B) is controllable. Let X be a solution of (19.6), and let $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{Im} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ X \end{bmatrix}$. Then

$$\pi(X) = \dim \left(\mathcal{M} \cap \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{H}, \mathbb{C}_l) - \dim \left(\mathcal{M} \cap P^* \mathcal{V}_l\right), \right.$$
$$\nu(X) = \dim \left(\mathcal{M} \cap \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{H}, \mathbb{C}_r) - \dim \left(\mathcal{M} \cap P^* \mathcal{V}_r\right), \right.$$
$$\delta(X) = \dim \left(\mathcal{M} \cap P^* \mathcal{V}\right).$$

The Discrete Algebraic Riccati Equation

In optimal control theory for discrete time systems the following quadratic matrix equation plays a role:

$$X = A^* X A + Q - A^* X B (R + B^* X B)^{-1} B^* X A,$$
(19.7)

where one is looking for a Hermitian solution X for which $A - B(R + B^*XB)^{-1}B^*XA$ has all its eigenvalues in the open unit disc.

Under additional conditions there is a connection between invariant Lagrangian subspaces of a J-unitary matrix and solutions of the discrete algebraic Riccati equation. One of these conditions is the invertibility of the matrix A. To describe the results, introduce the matrix T by

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} A + BR^{-1}B^*(A^*)^{-1}Q & -BR^{-1}B^*(A^*)^{-1} \\ -(A^*)^{-1}Q & (A^*)^{-1} \end{bmatrix},$$

and the matrix valued function

$$\Psi(z) = R + \left[-B^*(A^*)^{-1}Q \ B^*(A^*)^{-1} \right] \left(zI - \begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ -(A^*)^{-1}Q \ (A^*)^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \right)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} B \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

A direct computation shows that T is iJ-unitary, that is, $T^*JT = J$. Also, $\Psi(z)$ has Hermitian values for z on the unit circle.

It can be shown that if X is a Hermitian solution of (19.7), then the graph subspace $\operatorname{Im} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ X \end{bmatrix}$ of X is T-invariant and *iJ*-Lagrangian. Conversely, if the graph subspace of a matrix X is T-invariant and *iJ*-Lagrangian, then X is a Hermitian solution of (19.7).

Theorem 6. Assume that A is invertible, (A, B) is controllable, and that there exists a number η on the unit circle such that $\Psi(\eta)$ is positive definite. Then there exists a Hermitian solution of (19.7) if and only if there exists a T-invariant i J-Lagrangian subspace. In turn, this is equivalent to the partial multiplicities of T corresponding to eigenvalues on the unit circle being even.

In that case, every T-invariant i J-Lagrangian subspace is automatically a graph subspace of a Hermitian solution of (19.7), and conversely.

This theorem is one of the motivations of the study of Lagrangian invariant subspaces of matrices that are unitary in an indefinite inner product (see, e.g., [13]), or, for the case where all matrices are real, of matrices that are symplectic in a space with a skew-symmetric inner product. See, e.g., [17].

Key Literature

The following books give a far more exhaustive account of the theory: the book [13] is a good starting point; connections with robust control and H^{∞} control may be found in [12, 18] and [10]; the book [2] is a collection of valuable review papers; connections with factorization of rational matrix functions can be found in [1].

Cross-References

- Finite-Dimensional Indefinite Inner Product Spaces and Applications in Numerical Analysis
- ► Robust Stabilization of Linear Control Systems Using a Frequency Domain Approach

References

- 1. Bart, H., Gohberg, I., Kaashoek, M.A., Ran, A.C.M.: A State Space Approach to Canonical Factorization with Applications. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 200. Birkäuser, Basel (2010)
- 2. Bittanti, S., Laub, A.J., Willems, J.C. (eds.): The Riccati Equation. Springer, Berlin (1991)
- 3. Bubák, P., van der Mee, C.V.M., Ran, A.C.M.: Approximation of solutions of Riccati equations. SIAM J. Control Optim. **44**, 1419–1435 (2005)
- 4. Curilov, A.N.: On the solutions of quadratic matrix equations. Nonlinear Vib. Control Theory (Udmurt State University, Izhevsk) **2**, 24–33 (1978) (in Russian)
- 5. Curtain, R.F., Zwart, H.J.: An introduction to infinite-dimensional linear systems theory. Texts in Applied Mathematics, vol. 21. Springer, New York (1995)
- 6. Frazho, A.E., Kaashoek, M.A., Ran, A.C.M.: Rational matrix solutions of a Bezout type equation on the half plane. Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. **237**, 145–160 (2013)
- Frazho, A.E., Kaashoek, M.A., Ran, A.C.M.: Right invertible multiplication operators and stable rational matrix solutions to an associate Bezout equation, I. the least squares solution. Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory **70**(3), 395–418 (2011)
- Frazho, A.E., Kaashoek, M.A., Ran, A.C.M.: Right invertible multiplication operators and stable rational matrix solutions to an associate Bezout equation, II: Description of all solutions. Oper. Matrices 6, 833–857 (2012)
- 9. Gohberg, I., Lancaster, P., Rodman, L.: Indefinite Linear Algebra and Applications. Birkhäuser, Basel (2005)
- 10. Hassibi, B., Sayed, A.H., Kailath, T.: Indefinite-Quadratic Estimation and Control, a Unified Approach to H^2 and H^{∞} Theories. SIAM Studies in Applied and Numerical Mathematics, vol. 16. SIAM, Philadelphia (1999)
- 11. Heij, Chr., Ran, A.C.M., van Schagen, F.: Introduction to Mathematical Systems Theory: Linear Systems, Identification and Control. Birkhäuser, Basel (2006)
- 12. Ionescu, V., Oară, C., Weiss, M.: Generalized Riccati Theory and Robust Control. Wiley, Chichester (1999)
- 13. Lancaster, P., Rodman, L.: Algebraic Riccati Equations. Clarendon Press, Oxford (1995)
- Lancaster, P., Rodman, L.: Existence and uniqueness theorems for algebraic Riccati equations. Int. J. Control 32, 285–309 (1980)
- 15. Langer, H., Ran, A.C.M., van de Rotten, B.: Invariant subspaces of infinite dimensional Hamiltonians and solutions of the corresponding Riccati equations. In: Linear Operators and Matrices, The Peter Lancaster Anniversary Volume. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 130, pp. 235–254. Birkhäuser, Basel (2001)
- Langer, H., Ran, A.C.M., Temme, D.: Nonnegative solutions of algebraic Riccati equations. Linear Algebra Appl. 261, 317–352 (1997)
- 17. Mehl, Chr., Mehrmann, V., Ran, A.C.M., Rodman, L.: Perturbation analysis of Lagrangian invariant subspaces of symplectic matrices. Linear Multilinear Algebra **57**, 141–184 (2009)
- Mehrmann, V.: The Autonomous Linear Quadratic Control Problem. Lecture Notes in Control and Information Systems, vol. 163. Springer, Berlin (1991)
- Mikkola, K.M.: Infinite-dimensional linear systems, optimal control and algebraic Riccati equations. Thesis (D.Sc.(Tech.)), Teknillinen Korkeakoulu (2002). 1060 pp. ISBN: 978-9512-26153-6
- 20. Molinari, B.P.: The stabilizing solution of the algebraic Riccati equation. SIAM J. Control Optim. **11**, 262–271 (1973)
- Molinari, B.P.: Equivalence relations for the algebraic Riccati equation. SIAM J. Control Optim. 11, 272–285 (1973)
- 22. Oostveen, J., Zwart, H.: Solving the infinite-dimensional discrete-time algebraic Riccati equation using the extended symplectic pencil. Math. Control Signals Syst. 9(3), 242–265 (1996)

- Pritchard, A.J., Salamon, D.: The linear quadratic optimal control problem for infinitedimensional systems with unbounded input and output operators, SIAM J. Control Optim. 25, 121–144 (1987)
- 24. Ran, A.C.M., Rodman, L.: Stability of invarian maximal semidefinite subspaces I. Linear Algebra Appl. 62, 51–86 (1984)
- Ran, A.C.M., Trentelman, H.L.: Linear quadratic problems with indefinite cost for discrete time systems. SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl. 14, 7776–797 (1993)
- Shayman, M.: Geometry of the algebraic Riccati equations, parts I and II. SIAM J. Control Optim. 21, 375–394, 395–409 (1983)
- 27. Soethoudt, J. M., Trentelman, H.L.: The regular indefinite linear-quadratic problem with linear endpoint constraints. Syst. Control Lett. **12**, 23–31 (1989)
- Vidyasagar, M.: Control System Synthesis: A Factorization Approach. MIT Press, Cambridge (1985)
- 29. Willems, J.C.: Least squares stationary optimal control and the algebraic Riccati equation. IEEE Trans. Autom. Control AC-16, 621–634 (1971)
- Wimmer, H.K.: Lattice properties of sets of semidefinite solutions of continuous-time algebraic Riccati equations. Automatica 31(2), 173–182 (1995)